

# Annual report

2017-18





Royal Australian College of General Practitioners

#### Recommended citation

The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Annual report 2017–18. East Melbourne, Vic: RACGP, 2018.

The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Ltd 100 Wellington Parade East Melbourne, Victoria 3002

Tel 03 8699 0414 Fax 03 8699 0400 www.racgp.org.au

ABN: 34 000 223 807 ISSN: 2201-0505

© The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners 2018

This is an abridged version of the RACGP *Annual report 2017–18*. The full annual report is available online at annual report.racgp.org.au

This resource is provided under licence by the RACGP. Full terms are available at www.racgp.org.au/usage/licence. In summary, you must not edit or adapt it or use it for any commercial purposes. You must acknowledge the RACGP as the owner.

We acknowledge the Traditional Custodians of the lands and seas on which we work and live, and pay our respects to Elders, past, present and future.

# **Contents**

Message from the Chair	1
Message from the President	2
Message from the Finance, Audit and Risk Management Committee Chair	4
Message from the Chief Executive Officer	5
Members of the 60th RACGP Council	7
RACGP awards and GP honours	8
Corporate governance statement	11
Directors' report	13
Auditor's independence declaration	21
Independent auditor's report	22
Directors' declaration	24
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income	25
Consolidated statement of financial position	26
Consolidated statement of changes in equity	27
Consolidated statement of cash flows	27
Notes to the financial statements	28

i

## Message from the Chair

#### Dr Tim Koh

Chair, RACGP Council

Over the past 12 months, The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP) has continued to be the leading voice for the general practice profession, informing the Australian population and its leaders of the critical role that general practitioners (GPs) play within the community and the overall health of the nation.

RACGP membership numbers for 2017–18 have for the first time exceeded 39,000, and with that the RACGP is more visible than ever. From our members working in every community in every part of Australia, to TV, billboards and buses travelling the streets of our major cities, our communities now know the RACGP and what we, and our members, do.

The RACGP's expert committees and state and national faculties across the country are vital as the frontline for membership engagement, and I thank them for another year of dedication to the organisation and our members. These groups are fundamental to allowing the RACGP to continue providing members with incomparable professional experiences, such as active learning modules (ALMs), exam workshops, major conferences, networking events, standards and guidelines, advocacy through statements and positions papers, and much more.

I would like to thank our President, Dr Bastian Seidel, for his leadership throughout the past year.
Dr Seidel has been a remarkable role model for

Australian GPs and an important voice for our profession. He has led our advocacy efforts selflessly and passionately, and increased the RACGP's presence with the media, Australian patients and policy makers, and political leaders at the highest levels of government.

The past year has seen many pressing matters and challenges for the profession, and Dr Seidel has ensured the voice of RACGP members is always represented.

My fellow councillors work extraordinarily hard each year, continually striving to support the President in advocating for our members, and I thank them all sincerely for their efforts.

I must also extend my gratitude to our Chief Executive Officer, Dr Zena Burgess, who has led another successful year for the RACGP. Dr Burgess and her team continue to drive innovation within the RACGP, which will provide members with better experiences and services over coming years.

GPs continue to drive health and vital change throughout Australia. Looking back over the past year, the RACGP and its members have achieved so much, and I look forward to seeing what is in store for the coming year.

This is a transcript of a video message in the full annual report, available at annual report, racgp.org.au

# Message from the President

#### Dr Bastian Seidel

**RACGP President** 

The past 12 months have cemented the RACGP as Australia's leading academic medical college, and confirmed we are so much more than an organisation that sets standards and conducts exams for the medical specialty of general practice.

The RACGP's foundations are built on four pillars: general practice education, general practice training, general practice research and, increasingly, general practice advocacy. I have been particularly proud of our organisation's efforts throughout the past year to advocate not only for GPs, but also for our patients and the broader Australian community. We are no longer just **one** voice of general practice. We are **the** voice of general practice.

We no longer react to health policy initiatives written by others. We actively shape health policy. We no longer sit on the fence and wait for decisions to be made for us, we now articulate our positions strongly and publicly.

This was never meant to be an easy path. It would be so much easier for all of us to sit back and complain whenever we feel like it. However, our members expect us to stop complaining and to start contributing to the policy discourse. When we identify a problem, we are also committed to finding a solution. We no longer try to avoid complexity, we embrace and address the issues comprehensively and in a timely manner.

This is no different to what we GPs do in our clinical practice. This is no different to what we teach our students and registrars.

While some positions may make members uncomfortable, we cannot take the easy road and opt out of the complex discussions that are relevant to our patients. A pick-and-choose approach will lead to irrelevance of our organisation and subsequently of our profession. That's why we took a stance on marriage equality and on voluntary assisted dying, and we will continue to contribute to the public discourse on complex and ethical social issues that affect our patients every day.

Of course, advocacy for our profession has also been a major focus for the RACGP over the past 12 months. Now, more than ever before, we are seeing the benefits of our public awareness campaigns and efforts to establish a robust presence in our nation's capital in Canberra.

I am equally excited about the RACGP's increasing profile in the minds of Australia's politicians and other key decision-makers.

The federal government this year sought the RACGP's expert advice on a number of national healthcare issues, including after-hours Medicare rebates, codeine rescheduling, mandatory reporting, general practice training, flu vaccines and cervical cancer screening.

Federal Health Minister Greg Hunt made it a priority to speak at our 2017 conference for general practice – GP17 – in Sydney, where he was joined by Shadow Health Minister Catherine King and Greens leader Dr Richard Di Natale

The RACGP, along with its over 39,000 members, is **the** voice of the Australian general practice profession. We are now truly the most influential medical organisation in the country. And it's about time.

We have continued in our outstanding efforts to forge towards greater public awareness, with the latest phase of our campaign, 'No one knows you like your GP', proving another major success. The new campaign emphasises the fact that more than two million Australians visit a GP every week, and highlights the special, ongoing relationship GPs are able to establish with their patients.

The RACGP has also maintained its position as the standard-bearer in Australian healthcare training and education.

During his speech at GP17, Minister Hunt made the welcome and exciting announcement that the RACGP, along with our colleagues at the Australian College of Rural and Remote Medicine, will resume delivery of general practice training in Australia, encompassing the Australian General Practice Training program, from January 2022.

Regaining a fully funded general practice training program would have been a standout achievement during anybody's presidency. We did not achieve that by me having selfies taken in Canberra and posting them with a couple of catchy lines on social media. We've accomplished that by diligently and progressively working with the government, the Department of Health and our trusted stakeholders over the last 12 months.

This is exactly what your Council does, this is what your expert committees and membership groups advise on and that is what our outstanding RACGP staff excel in.

The past year has also seen the publication of several new and updated general practice resources, including the fifth edition of the *Standards for general practices*, one of the pillars of safety and quality in the Australian healthcare system. We've conducted an extensive consultation process in order to produce a new document that is truly useful in modern Australian general practice. The fifth edition Standards are thus far more patient-centred and outcome-focused, and are designed to encourage GPs and their practice teams to set up systems and processes that reflect their own unique needs.

Other new publications include *Putting prevention into practice: Guidelines for the implementation of prevention in the general practice setting* (Green Book), *Genomics in general practice* and the *National guide to a preventive health assessment for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people*, this last being a joint initiative with the National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation (NACCHO).

One of our most exciting political initiatives was the RACGP's landmark *General Practice: Health of the Nation 2017* report. The first comprehensive snapshot of general practice in Australia, the report focused on a range of key areas, including patient access, the role of the GP, and the general practice workforce.

Health of the Nation offered a number of fascinating insights into our profession, identifying psychological ailments and obesity as Australia's biggest health problems, as well as the fact that female GPs are taking a leading role in tackling these issues.

Female GPs are playing an increasingly significant role throughout the general practice profession and the RACGP itself, with 2018 marking the first time in college history that female members outnumbered males. The growing number of women in general practice is also reflected in the RACGP's leadership positions, with women making up 48% of RACGP expert committees and 41% of its Council membership. Yes, your college has become more diverse. And it's about time, too.

My term as RACGP President draws to a close. It was never my ambition to leave a legacy. I was fully aware that I'd lead an organisation in transition. It was my aim to leave an organisation that would be more confident, that would be more sure about its privileged role in the Australian healthcare system. The RACGP's relevance had to become self-evident to our members, to political decision-makers and of course to the Australian public.

The role of the president is not to lead the RACGP, but to be a steward of the organisation and the spokesperson representing the college and our members literally in good times and bad times. You've got to be prepared to take a hit, which frankly I did. But I'm still standing, and for that, the RACGP is in a better shape than ever before. I am proud of what we have accomplished together. The future is bright for the profession and the RACGP, but the hard work has just begun.

This is a transcript of a video message in the full annual report, available at annual report, racgp.org.au

# Message from the Finance, Audit and Risk Management Committee Chair

#### Martin Walsh

Chair, Finance, Audit and Risk Management Committee

Members of the Finance, Audit and Risk Management (FARM) Committee for the 2017–18 financial year have been:

- Mr Martin Walsh, Chair and Independent Councillor
- Dr Bastian Seidel, President
- Dr Bruce Willett, Chair, RACGP Queensland
- Dr Mary-Therese Wyatt, RACGP WA, and Council General Practice Registrar Representative
- Dr Harry Nespolon, President-elect (appointed August 2018)
- Ms Christine Nixon, Independent Councillor (by standing invitation)
- Dr Kevin Sweeney, RACGP Fellow
- Mr Mark Evans, external representative with information technology (IT) expertise.

The RACGP's consolidated operating performance remains very positive, the balance sheet position is strong and the organisation maintains a healthy long-term liquidity position. The RACGP uses the independent firm of RSM as its external auditor, with its representatives attending FARM Committee meetings during the year. In the current year we appointed BDO as the new internal auditors. Both RSM and BDO have reported no material issues, and the external auditors have issued an unqualified opinion on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018. Those consolidated financial statements and the accompanying 'Directors' report' also now contain a remuneration report approved by the newly formed RACGP Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

The RACGP has continued to strengthen and develop its whole-of-organisation risk-management approach, and the FARM Committee monitors the risk appetite reporting by management on a quarterly basis. The design, development and implementation of an integrated IT project plan for a new member engagement system is being led by the General Manager of Digital Technology, Simon Richardson. It continues to be a focus for the FARM Committee.

The FARM Committee uses Escala Partners as the RACGP's investment advisors and is implementing

an appropriate investment strategy for the long-term security of the college, together with an Environmental and Social Governance Investment Policy.

The FARM Committee also maintains oversight of the RACGP subsidiary, RACGP Oxygen Pty Ltd, and the RACGP Foundation.

I would like to express my thanks for the support that has been provided by all councillors and committee members, as well as by the RACGP's senior leadership team, particularly CEO, Dr Zena Burgess; General Manager of Finance, Karli Middlewood; and Finance Manager, Sherryna Fung.

# Message from the Chief Executive Officer

#### Dr Zena Burgess PhD

**Chief Executive Officer** 

I'm Dr Zena Burgess, the CEO of the RACGP.

This year we're producing our first digital annual report, and for my segment I'm going to be interviewed by one of our new members, Dr Natalia Rode.

**Natalia Rode:** Hi Zena, thanks for giving me the opportunity to speak with you.

**Zena Burgess:** What would you like to know about the RACGP?

**NR:** It's been a big year for the RACGP, and I'd really like to get started by asking what you're most proud of achieving from this financial year?

**ZB:** There are so many things. I'm certainly very proud of our digital innovation – shareGP, our member app, and what we're going to be launching with our new website, which will make it a customised, personalised website.

I am very proud of the work we're doing in education. The transferring of educational leadership to the college is something that Council have longed for, for a very long time. And that has been signed off by the Department of Health this year. So that's a very large body of work I've been involved in.

We've been very active with the political parties, and although we don't always get the funding we want for general practice – it's still only at 7% – we will keep fighting the good fight, until we get an adequate amount of funding for general practice.

That said, I'm also proud of the college staff who work tirelessly, absolutely tirelessly for the members and are very passionate about general practice and general practitioners.

One of the things that has happened since I've been CEO, and that I'm really pleased about, is that we're actually getting younger people on Council. Not that it was a problem, but if you're in the first four years of your career you see the world differently to if you're in the first year of your career. So having a diversity of voices on Council is really important, just as it's important to have cultural, gender [diversity], to represent the community that we are trying to service, because people do come with different ideas, and that's what we need.

**NR:** So one of the things you mentioned the RACGP having worked on is technology, and you mentioned shareGP, which has been around for, I think, about 18 months. I'd be interested to know how that came about, and what you think are its benefits for members?

**ZB:** We wanted to try and come up with some technology solutions that allow free and easy communication but were moderated in a professional way. We know that there is a number of other FB sites that members use, but those sites only speak to a small cohort of members and we were trying to find something that would work as a collaboration tool and a communication tool. We also are trying to do anything other than just send out more newsletters, and shareGP allows members to access information about the college when it suits them. And because shareGP allows people to put on any topic at any time, and start to generate a conversation, I am hoping to use it to get a stronger view about member sentiment around a number of issues.

**NR:** Another thing I've noticed which is fairly new, is the *newsGP* email – can you tell me more about why that started?

**ZB:** There were three reasons why I was really keen to have our own news channel. The first was, faculty newsletters fulfil one purpose, but a lot of the things that GPs want to know about, they want short, sharp news.

The other impetus from my point of view is I wasn't happy with the coverage of medical and health issues by the mainstream newspapers and I didn't feel like the RACGP voice was often heard in an unbiased way. So I wanted a channel where we could speak quickly to the members about key issues, so they didn't read about it in the medical press, but read about it in our news channel.

I think we've managed to make it interesting so we pick up all health-related news, not just RACGP information, so it has become a reference point for both the medical press and the mainstream press, which is an incredibly privileged position for the college to be in.

**NR:** There have been a number of issues that have divided members, and that probably brings us to the increased media presence of the RACGP, and the new

brand campaign. There's been some positive views, and some less positive views, and I think there's been some questioning among the GP community about what is the purpose of this? And there's also quite a bit of money going into this, so how is it going to benefit us as GPs?

**ZB:** There is about a million dollars more going into branding than used to go into marketing. So what I actually did was collect up all the bits of money that were being used and used them more effectively – which is my job as the CEO. As the college is becoming larger, and is financially stronger, we do need to do more in terms of marketing and branding. I sat in many Council meetings with the Council members lamenting that no one really understood what a general practitioner does, and that they are specialists.

So, I took the challenge to come up with a campaign that allowed the public to understand what a GP does. The first cycle I received 33 complaints from members saying 'But that's not what I do', and I had to write back to each of them and say 'It's not actually about you – the GP – it's about the public's perception of the work of general practice and how to help the public understand the diversity of that'. Certainly one of the expected and satisfactory spinoffs has been the professional awareness amongst other groups of what general practitioners do, and our importance as a peak body and also the political influence we can have through being such a large professional organisation.

I think the challenge is really for the members to understand that this is business. And it is a member club and a member organisation, but actually it's a pretty large business, and there are a number of business principles that we need to use to make sure we make the best use of members' dollars.

The question about where does the money go is a really interesting one. Basically it gets spent on -I remember looking at the figures this week - in order, it goes faculties, education, advocacy - they're the three big ones - and then there's brand and operations and staffing and things like that. But what we've done [in this annual report] is provide an analysis of where every dollar goes as well. So, if anyone's got any doubts, they can see exactly where the money goes.

NR: Another topic that has been quite divisive of members has been the college's stance on advocacy for various social issues. I watched the way the college approached the marriage equality issue last year – working in a clinic where we focus on LGBTIQ [lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, intersex, questioning] health and being really aware of how it impacts on my patients' health, I saw that the college initially had one response, then

changed that. Both responses ended up dividing the general practice membership. What's the college's stance on how it will approach issues in the future and whether it will continue to have a position on social issues?

**ZB:** That is something the Council was very vexed about, that was so hard, not because the Council didn't have a view, but they were trying to work out the best way to present the various views of our members. As you can appreciate, with almost 40,000 GPs in the college, there are probably a large number of different views.

The college will continue to advocate on social issues, but not every social issue. They will selectively choose the ones they will engage in. You would appreciate that every week there is an appeal to me to suggest that the college take a position on a particular issue. There are times when we do so quietly, and there are times when we do so loudly, and there are times when we decline.

But it is something that needs to be evaluated each step of the way, because we are primarily a medical college, and we need to stick within the ambit of, ideally, what we are here for. But the interface between social issues, economic issues and health issues – they're intertwined.

**NR:** One of the other things you spoke about was the college taking over education of registrars, how do you think this will change what the college is doing, or has changed it so far?

**ZB:** We have a very positive relationship with the nine RTOs [regional training organisations] that deliver training. We're still in the transition period, which we will be for three years. But I think it gives us an opportunity to start to redevelop education so we're planning for the future of medical education, not just doing what we have done before.

So I'm very excited, and I'm particularly interested in models of supervision, which is something that I looked at in one of my research degrees, for a different profession.

I think there are opportunities for improvement, and I'm looking to the New Fellows Committees and the trainees committees to give us feedback, not just on their experience to date, but as they move in to practice – what are they finding about practice and what do they want to know about practice, that they don't feel really prepared for?

As you know, health is changing so rapidly. Not just with technology, but with the boundaries of expectations and the huge community demand. Ongoing education and initial education is going to become even more important for our GPs.

This is a transcript of a video message in the full annual report, available at annual report.racgp.org.au

### Members of the 60th RACGP Council

The RACGP is governed by the RACGP Council, comprising the President, Vice-President, Censor-in-Chief, General Practice Registrar Representative, Chair of each state and territory faculty, Chair of RACGP Rural, Chair of RACGP Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health, Chair of the Finance, Audit and Risk Management Committee, and any additional individuals co-opted by Council to the extent allowable under the RACGP Constitution.



**Dr Tim Koh** Chair, RACGP Council Chair, RACGP WA



**Dr Bastian Seidel** RACGP President



Associate Professor Charlotte Hespe Vice-President Chair, RACGP NSW&ACT



**Dr Mark Miller** Censor-in-Chief



**Dr Zakaria Baig** Chair, RACGP SA&NT



**Dr Cameron Loy** Chair, RACGP Victoria



Ms Christine Nixon APM Co-opted Council member



**Dr Andrew Png** Co-opted member



Associate Professor Peter O'Mara Chair, RACGP Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health



Associate Professor Jennifer Presser Chair, RACGP Tasmania



**Dr Ayman Shenouda** Chair, RACGP Rural



Mr Martin Walsh Chair, Finance, Audit and Risk Management Committee; board member, RACGP Oxygen Pty Ltd; co-opted Council member



**Dr Bruce Willett** Chair, RACGP Queensland



**Dr Mary-Therese Wyatt** General Practice Registrar Representative

### RACGP awards and GP honours

The RACGP salutes the dedication of GPs across Australia and recognises excellence in general practice, with awards for the year's best GP, supervisor, registrar, general practice, rural GP, and rural registrar, as well as the Rose-Hunt Award, the RACGP's highest accolade.

#### **Rose-Hunt Award 2017**

The RACGP's most prestigious award, recognising outstanding service in promoting the aims and objectives of the RACGP.

Dr David Knowles

#### General Practitioner of the Year 2017

Presented to a general practitioner who has demonstrated outstanding commitment to the profession, excellence in primary healthcare provision, and significant involvement in training and continuing professional development.

Dr Amanda Bethell

#### General Practice of the Year 2017

Recognises a practice's approach to patient health and wellbeing, exemplary service and quality of care, health promotion initiatives and the practice's involvement in general practice teaching.

Atticus Health Carrum

#### **General Practice Supervisor of the Year 2017**

Recognises the dedication of a GP who has significantly contributed towards the training and mentoring of general practice registrars, leading by example and inspiring those coming through the system to gain a strong appreciation of the general practice profession.

Dr David Knowles

#### **General Practice Registrar of the Year 2017**

Recognises the strong commitment made by a general practice registrar to learning, the general practice profession and provision of high-quality patient care.

Dr Adelaide Boylan

#### Rural Registrar of the Year 2017

Presented to a general practice registrar who has demonstrated a deep commitment to rural general practice, learning and education, and service to rural patients and rural communities.

Dr Cassie Rickard

#### Monty Kent-Hughes Memorial Medal

2017.1 - Dr Samantha Cassidy

2017.2 - Dr Jacob Mackenzie

#### **Brian Williams Award 2017**

Dr Denise Powell

#### **Medical Undergraduate Student Bursary 2017**

Ms Wai Yee Yum

#### RACGP Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health – Growing Strong Award 2017

Dr Josie Guyer

#### 2017 Honour Board

Dr Chris Harrison

#### **Australian Day Honours 2018**

#### Companion of the Order of Australia

• Dr Mukesh Haikerwal

#### Medal of the Order of Australia

- Dr Marjorie Cross (NSW)
- Assoc Prof Morton Rawlin (Vic)
- Dr Paul Hemming (Vic)
- Assoc Prof Jennifer Thomson (ACT)
- Adjunct Assoc Prof Diana O'Halloran (NSW)
- Dr Ralph Peters (Tas)
- Dr Ian Fraser (Qld)
- Dr Leonard Brenner (NSW)
- Dr Neil Bartels (Qld)

#### **Queen's Birthday Honours 2018**

#### Officer of the Order of Australia

• Prof Mark Harris (NSW)

#### Medal of the Order of Australia

- The Late Dr Keith Beck (NSW)
- Prof Stephen Margolis (Qld)
- Dr Renato Vecchies (Vic)
- Dr Richard Wilson (SA)

# 2017 RACGP Foundation research grants, scholarship and award winners

The RACGP Foundation has been awarding grants, awards and scholarships for more than 50 years. We thank our funding partners for joining us in investing in GPs and general practice registrars to build research evidence.

The high calibre of these grant recipients reflects the need in general practice to address research questions that impact general practice for frontline practitioners, improving health outcomes for all Australians.

#### Therapeutic Guidelines Ltd (TGL)/RACGP Research Grant

Dr Jo-Anne Manski-Nankervis

Project title: 'Understanding antibiotic prescribing and use of guidelines in general practice – The GP National Antimicrobial Prescribing Survey (GP-NAPS) pilot study'

Co-investigators:

- · Prof Karin Thursky
- Assoc Prof Douglas Boyle
- · Dr Malcolm Clark
- Assoc Prof Kirsty Buising

#### **RACGP/HCF Research Grant**

Prof Geoffrey Mitchell

Project title: 'Development of a routine data collection process in community-based end-of-life care'

Co-investigators:

- Dr Claire Johnson
- Dr Laura Deckx

#### **RACGP/HCF Research Grant**

Prof Parker Magin

Project title: 'AusTAPER Pilot: Team Approach to Polypharmacy Evaluation and Reduction (AusTAPER) pilot study for older general practice patients'

Co-investigators:

- Assoc Prof Christopher Etherton-Beer
- Prof Lynne Parkinson
- Assoc Prof Vasi Naganathan
- Prof Andrew McLachlan
- Prof Dee Mangin

#### RACGP/Diabetes Australia Research Grant

Assoc Prof John Furler

Project title: 'Personalised care for people with type 2 diabetes: An integrated shared decision making tool embedded in the electronic medical record in general practice'

Co-investigators:

- Dr Jo-Anne Manski-Nankervis
- · Prof Jane Speight
- Prof Sophie Zoungas
- Assoc Prof Dougie Boyle
- · Assoc Prof Mark Kennedy

#### **RACGP/IPN Medical Centres Research Grant**

Prof Geoffrey Mitchell

Project title: 'Understanding the reasons for clinician lack of recognition of the risk of dying'

Co-investigator:

· Prof Michelle Foster

#### RACGP/Australian Association of Musculoskeletal Medicine Research Grant

Dr Rosemary Craig

Project title: 'Better osteogenesis needs exercise – Australian Indigenous dance'

Co-investigators:

- Prof Belinda Beck
- Dr Jonathan Munro
- Assoc Prof Suzanne Broadbent

#### RACGP/Primary Care Collaborative Cancer Clinical Trials Group (PC4) Research Grant

Dr Matthew Grant

Project title: 'Community peer support in cancer: Patient attitudes and experiences'

Co-investigators:

- Prof Jennifer Philip
- Prof Paul Komesaroff

#### **RACGP Indigenous Health Award**

Dr James Doran

Project title: 'Pilot study in the training in the use of focused cardiac ultrasound by primary care medical staff within

an Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Service – Its feasibility and impact in the remote primary care setting'

#### Co-investigators:

- Dr David Canty
- Prof Colin Royse
- Prof Alistair Royse
- · Prof Alan Cass
- Dr Karen Dempsey

# RACGP Family Medical Care Education and Research Grant

Dr Jo-Anne Manski-Nankervis

Project title: 'Multimorbidity and glycaemia in people with type 2 diabetes attending Australian general practice: A cross-sectional study utilising data from NPS MedicineInsight'

#### Co-investigators:

- Prof Karin Thursky
- Assoc Prof Douglas Boyle
- Dr Malcolm Clark
- Assoc Prof Kirsty Buising

# RACGP Family Medical Care Education and Research Grant

Dr Anthea Dallas

Project title: 'GP registrars' and their supervisors' attitudes to, and experience of, the use of delayed antibiotic prescribing for acute respiratory tract infections: A qualitative study'

#### Co-investigators:

- · Prof Parker Magin
- Prof Mieke van Driel
- Prof Paul Glasziou
- Assoc Prof Joshua Davis
- Dr Andrew Davey

#### RACGP/MDA National Best General Practice Research Article in the *AFP* Journal Award

Ms Carole Meade

Article title: 'Implementation of a team model for RACF care by a general practice'. Aust Fam Physician 2016;45(4):218–22.

#### Co-authors:

- Dr Bernadette Ward
- Ms Helen Cronin

#### **RACGP Peter Mudge Medal**

Prof Tania Winzenberg

Project title: 'Do disease specific clinical guidelines address the multimorbidity challenge in general practice?'

#### **RACGP Alan Chancellor Award**

Dr Christopher Hughes

Project title: 'eReferrals: Why are we still faxing?'

### Corporate governance statement

The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Ltd (RACGP) is a public company limited by guarantee, governed by the RACGP's Constitution, regulations and policy.

#### The Board (Council)

The RACGP's Council is its board of directors.

Council's conduct is self-managed with reference to the RACGP Conflict of Interest Policy, the RACGP Member Code of Conduct and individual engagement agreements. Councillors are offered the Australian Institute of Company Directors (AICD) Program on commencement. Council is accountable to the RACGP members, with any changes to the Constitution subject to approval by a special majority of eligible members (75%) in general meeting.

The President's allowance is approved annually at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) by eligible members.

Directors have historically received payments from the RACGP. Increases have been approved by Council on an annual basis, usually aligned with the consumer price index.

Details of key management personnel compensation are included in the financial statement notes.

Council operations are outlined in policy and procedure frameworks. A copy of these, as well as the RACGP Constitution and other governance information, is available on the RACGP website.

#### **Council composition**

Council consists of at least 11 RACGP members and may co-opt up to five additional individuals (who need not be members). Council currently has three such individuals.

Council members are called 'councillors'. Eight councillors are drawn from the chairs of RACGP Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health, RACGP Rural, RACGP NSW&ACT, RACGP Queensland, RACGP SA&NT, RACGP Tasmania, RACGP Victoria and RACGP WA. The RACGP President, Censor-in-Chief and Registrar Representative are elected by general ballot. Co-opted councillors are appointed by majority Council decision. Council elects its Chair and Vice-President from within. The RACGP Constitution and the RACGP elections policy detail the process for councillor appointment.

Council is structured to maximise member representation (as opposed to skills or diversity). The President represents the general membership, the Censor-in-Chief represents the education committees, the Registrar Representative represents members enrolled in general practice training programs leading to Fellowship, and faculty chairs represent their faculty.

The 'Directors' report' includes relevant details for the President, Chair, Censor-in-Chief, Registrar Representative, councillors and company secretary, including names and qualifications.

#### **Role of Council**

Council is responsible for the RACGP's overall corporate governance and performance. Its objectives are stipulated in Part 1 of the Constitution, and its powers in Part 9 of the Constitution. Its role includes setting and periodically reviewing the RACGP's strategy, and monitoring organisational and financial performance. Council focuses on a range of strategies, including summative and formative assessments, as part of its quality improvement activities. It is the ultimate decision-maker on clinical, educational and professional matters, and reserves a number of decisions of this nature for its determination.

#### Council and the Chief Executive Officer

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is appointed by Council and is responsible for the management of the RACGP in accordance with approved strategy, policies and delegated authority framework. Authority is delegated to the CEO in accordance with the Council Delegations of Authority policy. The CEO attends Board and Board Committee meetings; however, the CEO is not a director.

All RACGP staff members, including those in the senior leadership team, are subject to annual performance planning and reviews by their immediate supervisor. The CEO is reviewed by the Chair.

#### **Faculty committees**

Part 3 of the RACGP Constitution establishes the RACGP's faculties, and Part 7.1 appoints each faculty chair to be a councillor (except for RACGP Specific Interests).

Faculty committees are established by section 59(a)(vii) of the RACGP Constitution. They are constitutionally referred to as boards, but are more accurately defined as

advisory bodies representing members' interests. They perform a number of functions delegated by Council or initiated by their Chair.

Faculty committees consist of three member types – elected, ex officio and co-opted. Elected members are on the faculty committee pursuant to faculty elections, which are held each year as approximately half of the elected faculty committee members retire.

#### **Board committees**

Part 10.3 of the RACGP Constitution authorises Council to establish board committees, and clinical, educational and professional committees. All such committees perform an advisory role; Council is the ultimate decision-maker on clinical, educational and professional matters. It reserves a number of decisions of this nature for its determination.

#### Finance, Audit and Risk Management Committee

The Finance, Audit and Risk Management (FARM) Committee is responsible for assisting Council to fulfil its oversight responsibility of the RACGP's risk management, and controls and the integrity of the RACGP's financial statements (among other things).

FARM comprises the RACGP President, two RACGP councillors (one of whom must be a faculty chair), an RACGP Fellow with financial, audit and/or risk management experience, and two independent members – one is the FARM Chair with financial, audit and/or risk management experience, and the other with expertise in information systems in a business setting.

#### **RACGP** expert committees

There are seven RACGP expert committees (RECs), each responsible for separate portfolios in areas of expertise considered crucial to the RACGP and to general practice. The RECs are General Practice Advocacy and Funding, Quality Care, Research, Standards for General Practices, Pre-Fellowship Education, Post-Fellowship Education, and eHealth and Practice Systems.

Each REC pursues a number of objectives within its area of expertise, including advising on the implementation of related initiatives; establishing links with relevant state, national and international groups; and increasing the profile of the RACGP. They also provide Council with assistance and advice within their area of expertise.

REC chairs are appointed by Council, with REC members appointed via a combination of expertise and expressions of interest.

#### **Board of Censors**

The Board of Censors (BoC) considers standards of clinical practice and competence, and assesses candidate competency concerning Fellowship eligibility. The BoC reports to the General Manager, Education Services, as the CEO's delegate.

The BoC ensures the RACGP adopts a defensible, sustainable, unified and coordinated approach across all faculties for establishing and maintaining standards relating to assessment of candidates presenting for Fellowship. The BoC comprises the Censor-in-Chief, each faculty censor and up to two additional censors. The censors are employed on recommendation of the Censor-in-Chief and the General Manager, Education Services.

#### **Board of Assessment**

The Board of Assessment (BoA) considers standards of clinical practice and competence, and assesses candidate competency concerning Fellowship eligibility. The BoA reports to the General Manager, Education Services, as the CEO's delegate.

The BoA ensures the RACGP adopts a defensible, sustainable, unified and coordinated approach across all faculties for establishing and maintaining standards relating to assessment of candidates presenting for Fellowship.

The BoA comprises all BoC members, Assessment Panel chairs, national examination coordinators, and a general practice registrar. The Assessment Panel chairs and national examination coordinators are employed on recommendation of the Censor-in-Chief and the General Manager, Education Services.

# Directors' report

Your directors present this report to the members of the consolidated entity ('the group'), consisting of The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Ltd ('the company' or 'RACGP') and its controlled entities at the end of, or during, the financial year ended 30 June 2018.

#### **Principal activities**

The RACGP is Australia's largest professional general practice organisation and represents urban, rural, regional and remote general practitioners (GPs). The RACGP is a not-for-profit entity and is endorsed as a deductible gift recipient (DGR) under subdivision 30B of the *Income Tax Assessment Act 1997* for donations made for education or research in medical knowledge or science.

#### **Objectives**

The RACGP's objectives are to improve the health and wellbeing of all people in Australia by supporting GPs, general practice registrars and medical students through its principal activities of education, training and research and by assessing doctors' skills and knowledge, advocacy, supplying ongoing professional development activities, developing resources and guidelines, helping GPs with issues that affect their practice, and developing standards that general practices use to ensure high-quality healthcare.

The RACGP has a proud history of achievements, including the development of the *Standards for general practices* and introducing continuing professional development. The RACGP carries out its activities within the following areas of strategic focus:

- education and training for general practice
- · innovation and policy for general practice
- advocacy
- collegiality.

#### Performance measures

The RACGP monitors and reports on performance to the RACGP Council through governance reporting mechanisms during:

- · Council meetings
- Finance Audit and Risk Management (FARM)
   Committee of Council meetings
- other Council sub-committee and advisory board meetings.

#### **Results of operations**

During the financial year ended 30 June 2018, the group recorded a total surplus after tax of \$413,430 compared to \$495,056 in 2017. Over the year, the net assets of the group increased from \$27,753,968 to \$34,017,398. As a result of asset revaluation during the year, an increment of \$5,850,000 was taken to the asset revaluation reserve.

#### Significant changes in the state of affairs

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the group that occurred during the financial year that are not otherwise disclosed in this report or the financial statements.

# Performance in relation to environmental regulation

There was no environmental legislation applicable to the operations of the group that has not been complied with.

#### Likely developments and future results

The group anticipates that it will maintain in 2018–19 its positive financial position. The group is continually updating, reviewing and improving its management and governance practices to ensure that the objectives and obligations of the group and its directors are met.

#### **Dividends**

The company is a company limited by guarantee and its Constitution precludes the payment of dividends.

# Events subsequent to the end of the financial year

No circumstances have arisen since the end of the year that have significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the group in future financial years.

#### **Directors**

The names and details of the company's directors in office at the date of this report are as follows. The company's board of directors is also known as the RACGP Council.

#### Dr Tim Koh

#### MBBS, FRACGP

Chair, RACGP Council; Chair, RACGP WA

Dr Tim Koh is Chair of RACGP Council and Chair of RACGP WA. A practising GP in north-metropolitan Perth, Dr Koh is a second-generation GP who is originally from Three Springs, approximately 300 km north of Perth, where his father was a rural GP.

Dr Koh has been involved in general practice training with RACGP WA and Western Australian General Practice Education and Training (WAGPET) since 2002. He served as RACGP WA Assessment Panel Chair for six years, and Education Committee Chair for four years.

After becoming RACGP WA Deputy Chair in 2010, Dr Koh was subsequently named Chair in 2014. He is a co-owner of Currambine and Ocean Keys family practices, where he supervises and mentors general practice registrars, residents and medical students.

#### Dr Bastian Seidel

#### MBBS, PhD, MACHI, MRCGP, FRACGP

President

Dr Bastian Seidel is a partner and co-owner of a general practice in Tasmania's Huon Valley, south-west of Hobart. He joined RACGP Tasmania in 2009 and was elected Deputy Chair in 2011, before being named Chair in 2015.

Dr Seidel studied medicine in Germany and South Africa before completing his vocational training as a GP in the United Kingdom in 2006. He has been a general practice supervisor for general practice registrars and an RACGP examiner since 2007, and is a clinical professor at the University of Tasmania and Director of the National Asthma Council.

# Associate Professor Charlotte Hespe (appointed 30 September 2017)

MBBS (Hons), FRACGP, DCH (Lon), GCUT, FAICD Vice-President; Chair, RACGP NSW&ACT

Dr Charlotte Hespe is a GP and owner of an inner-city Sydney practice where she has worked for the last 20 years. She is a general practice supervisor, and her practice functions as a teaching practice for medical students and general practice registrars. Dr Hespe also works as Associate Professor, Head of General Practice and General Practice Research for the University of Notre Dame, Australia, School of Medicine, Sydney.

Dr Hespe has been involved with the RACGP since achieving her FRACGP, serving as Examiner, co-Assessment Panel Chair, NSW for four years and National Objective Structured Clinical Examination (OSCE) Facilitator for two years before becoming Deputy Chair of RACGP NSW&ACT in 2012.

A member of the RACGP Expert Committee – Quality Care in 2016–17, Dr Hespe is currently completing a PhD looking at the implementation of best practice for prevention of cardiovascular disease in the primary care setting.

Dr Hespe holds a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors (FAICD) qualification and has extensive experience in corporate governance, with 17 years' experience as chair on several boards with a primary healthcare focus. Dr Hespe is a director for EIS Health Ltd, which is responsible for overseeing the Central and Eastern Sydney Primary Health Network.

#### Dr Mark Miller MBBS, DRANZCOG, FRACGP

Censor-in-Chief

Dr Mark Miller is the RACGP Censor-in-Chief and Chair of the RACGP Board of Censors and Board of Assessment. Dr Miller was previously Chair of the SA exam panel from 1997 to 2003, and RACGP SA&NT Censor. He has trained general practice registrars for more than 20 years, is a member of RACGP Rural, has been both a John Flynn and Ramus mentor, and has been a Harvard Macy Alumni Scholar since 2005.

Dr Miller has been a full-time rural GP in Goolwa on South Australia's Fleurieu Peninsula for more than 25 years. He is heavily involved in running the RACGP Fellowship assessments and has been a medical educator and facilitator at RACGP SA&NT—run workshops for many years. Dr Miller was awarded the 2013 RACGP GP of the Year Award in recognition of his outstanding commitment to the profession, and was awarded a 25-year long-service medal for rural practice in South Australia. He is also the recipient of a Paul Harris Fellowship from the Rotary Foundation of Rotary International 'In appreciation of tangible and significant assistance given for the furtherance and better understanding and friendly relations among peoples of the world'.

In addition to a full-time clinical role, Dr Miller has been involved with teaching medical students from Flinders University and the University of Adelaide, and for more than 10 years his practice has hosted Parallel Rural Clinical Curriculum students as they completed their third year at Flinders University medical school. He has supervised more than 40 general practice registrars and enjoys the vibrancy they add to clinical practice, teaching, mentoring and learning. Dr Miller has also provided tuition and mentoring to a number of international medical graduates (IMGs) commencing general practice in Australia.

#### Dr Zakaria Baig (appointed 30 September 2017)

MBBS, FRACGP, FACRRM

Chair, RACGP SA&NT

Dr Zak Baig is the Chair of RACGP SA&NT. He has been a GP for more than 20 years and has had extensive experience in rural and emergency medicine in Australia and the UK.

Dr Baig graduated from medical school in Pakistan and has since received additional training in the UK, Ireland and Australia. He worked in emergency medicine for many years before transitioning to rural medicine, practising on the Yorke Peninsula in South Australia for more than a decade.

Dr Baig currently practises as a GP in the northern suburbs of Adelaide.

Heavily involved in medical education for medical students and registrars, Dr Baig has a special interest in assisting IMGs with their training. He has also been an examiner for the RACGP and the Australian Medical Council for many years.

#### **Dr Cameron Loy**

# MBBS, BMedSc(Hon), FRACGP, FARGP, DCH, DRANZCOG, GAICD

Chair, RACGP Victoria

Dr Cameron Loy is a practising GP in Lara, Victoria, and in correctional services. He has worked in south-western Victoria and internationally in Timor-Leste.

Dr Loy has held a number of prominent professional roles. He was Chair of the General Practice Registrars Association (GPRA) in 2002, Director of the Remote Vocational Training Scheme in 2006-10, and Director of Greater Green Triangle General Practice Education and Training (GPET) in 2001-03 and Chair in 2011. He has also held a number of roles within the RACGP, including Deputy Chair of RACGP Rural in 2003-14, and Deputy Chair of RACGP Victoria in 2014. Dr Loy is an RACGP examiner and quality assurance examiner, was Chair of the RACGP Assessment Panel for six years, and was a member of the RACGP Expert Committee - Standards for General Practice. He currently holds the role of Principal Medical Officer for Justice Health, Victoria.

Dr Loy was on the advisory groups for the Victorian opioid substitution programs and hepatitis C therapy training programs for six years. He is a trustee of the Shepherd Foundation, providing

research grants into prevention and occupational health. Dr Loy remains a committed general practice supervisor and mentor for general practice registrars, residents and medical students. In his spare time, he is a keen amateur astronomer.

#### Ms Christine Nixon APM

**Co-opted Council member** 

Ms Christine Nixon is a prominent, experienced public speaker and advocate for women, disadvantaged youth, and multi-faith and multicultural communities. She is the Deputy Chancellor at Monash University and Chair of Monash College and the Good Shepherd Microfinance.

As Victoria Police Chief Commissioner from 2001 to 2009, Ms Nixon was the first woman in such a role in any Australian state police service. After leaving Victoria Police, she was appointed Chair of the Victorian Bushfire Reconstruction and Recovery Authority, a position she held from February 2009 to July 2010.

Ms Nixon has extensive experience in policing, organisational reform, risk management, crisis management, corruption prevention, emergency management and human resource management. She is also a published author, having written her memoir, *Fair cop*, with Jo Chandler in 2011, and *Women leading* with Professor Amanda Sinclair in 2017.

Ms Nixon has received numerous accolades for her services and achievements, including the Australia Police Medal in 1997 and Save the Children Foundation's White Flame Award in 2009. She also has four honorary doctorates from multiple Australian universities and a Masters of Public Administration from Harvard University in the US.

#### Dr Andrew Png (appointed 22 May 2018) MBBS, FRACGP, GAICD

Co-opted member

Dr Andrew Png is GP and practice principal who has worked in Kwinana in the southern suburbs of Perth since obtaining his FRACGP in 1999. He has been an Australian General Practice Training (AGPT) supervisor for the last 14 years and has also supervised junior doctors through the Prevocational General Practice Placements Program (PGPPP) and the Remote Vocational Training Scheme (RVTS). He is currently a member of the RACGP WA faculty board and is also serving on the board of WAGPET, the Regional Training Organisation (RTO) in Western Australia.

## Associate Professor Peter O'Mara FRACGP

Chair, RACGP Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health

Assoc Prof Peter O'Mara is from the Wiradjuri people of New South Wales. He has worked with the Tobwabba Aboriginal Medical Service since 2002 and describes himself as an Aboriginal man who loves being a doctor.

With a love for working one-on-one with patients, Assoc Prof O'Mara finds satisfaction in the knowledge that, in his own small way, his work contributes toward closing the gap in health outcomes between Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and non-Indigenous Australians.

Assoc Prof O'Mara began pursuing his other passion – making good doctors – in 2008, and took on the position of Associate Professor, Indigenous Medical Education and Head of Discipline, Indigenous Health at Newcastle University. He has been a member of the Australian Indigenous Doctors' Association (AIDA) board for eight years, and he was AIDA President in 2009–12.

#### Associate Professor Jennifer Presser (appointed 30 September 2017) BSc, PhD, BMBS, DRANZCOG, DipChildHealth, FRACGP, MHPE

Chair, RACGP Tasmania

Assoc Prof Jennifer Presser is the Chair of RACGP Tasmania and regional representative for Denison.

Assoc Prof Presser entered medicine as a mature aged student after working as a research scientist. After completing medical school at Flinders University in South Australia in 2002, she completed her general practice training with Northern Territory General Practice Education in 2009. She has worked in a variety of areas, including Aboriginal health, palliative care, family planning and community mental health.

Dr Presser has worked as a medical educator with General Practice Training Tasmania and Tropical Medical Training in Queensland. She is currently the Academic Lead for the University of Tasmania's Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery (MBBS) medical program.

Dr Presser has a strong interest in mental health, is an accredited Balint group leader and works at Headspace Hobart.

#### Dr Ayman Shenouda MBBCH, FRACGP, FARGP, DipDerm UK, GAICD Chair, RACGP Rural

Dr Ayman Shenouda was appointed Chair of RACGP Rural in October 2014, after having served as Deputy Chair for six years. He is also a member of RACGP NSW&ACT and was on the RACGP National Standard Committee – Education for several years. He is also current Chair of Wagga Wagga GP After Hours Services. Former roles include Chair of the Remote Vocational Training Scheme (RVTS), Director of Medical Education Coast City Country General Practice Training (CCCGPT) Riverina/Murrumbidgee, and Director on the board of the Riverina Division of General Practice and Primary Health.

Dr Shenouda was named the 2009 RACGP GP of the Year, while his Glenrock Country Practice was named the 2007 RACGP NSW&ACT General Practice of the Year and awarded three Australian General Practice Accreditation Limited (AGPAL) awards in 2009 and 2010.

After migrating from Egypt more than 20 years ago, Dr Shenouda commenced his medical career in Australia as a surgical registrar in Tasmania in 1995 and has been a rural GP in Wagga Wagga, New South Wales, for the last 17 years, where he established Glenrock Country Practice. Dr Shenouda's main special interest is education and training, and he is passionate about developing quality frameworks and systematic management tools to enable and enhance the work undertaken by GPs.

#### Mr Martin Walsh

FCA, FGIA, GAICD

#### Chair, Finance, Audit and Risk Management Committee; board member, RACGP Oxygen Pty Ltd; co-opted Council member

Mr Martin Walsh has been an international partner at both Ernst & Young and Deloitte. He is currently a director of the IOOF Group Regulated Entities and of Surf Life Saving Australia, and is Chair of the latter's National Foundation. He is a past director of Hastings Funds Management and of StatePlus, where he was the Chair of their respective Audit and Risk Committees. He is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants and of the Governance Institute, and a graduate member of the Institute of Company Directors.

#### Dr Bruce Willett (appointed 30 September 2017) MBBS, FRACGP

Chair, RACGP Queensland

Dr Bruce Willett is a GP and practice owner in Victoria Point in Redland City, south of Brisbane, and is committed to grassroots general practice and medical education.

Dr Willett has been enjoying his current practice – just a few kilometres from where he grew up – for the past 25 years.

Having been on the board of General Practice Supervisors Australia (GPSA) since 2010, Dr Willett was Chair of GPSA from 2015 to 2016, and Chair of the GP Supervisor Liaison Officer Network from 2010 to 2015.

Dr Willett was the Supervisor Liaison Officer for General Practice Training Queensland/Central and Southern Queensland Training Consortium (GPTQ/CSQTC) from 2008 to 2018, and has also worked as a medical educator for GPTO.

He has served on the boards of his local Division of General Practice and the Queensland Health Diabetes Network, and has been an RACGP examiner since 1994.

#### **Dr Mary-Therese Wyatt**

# BSc (BioMed), DipEd (Maths), MBBS, DCH, FRACGP, GAICD

**General Practice Registrar Representative** 

Dr Mary-Therese Wyatt is a recent Fellow of the RACGP who works in a long-established general practice in Perth, Western Australia. Prior to Fellowship, Dr Wyatt undertook general practice registrar training with WAGPET. She was a registrar liaison officer for WAGPET in 2014–16, which included a role on the Advisory Council for GPRA.

Dr Wyatt has continued her association with GPRA in an ex-officio role, representing the RACGP in the advisory council. She was also a GPRA board director in 2009–13.

In her life prior to medical training, Dr Wyatt studied biomedical science and spent several years as a high school mathematics teacher, working in country New South Wales.

#### Dr Clare Ballingall (resigned 30 September 2017)

MBChB, FRACGP

Chair, RACGP Tasmania

Dr Clare Ballingall is a GP from Newtown in Hobart, Tasmania, where she practises in a large group practice. Dr Ballingall has also worked for the federally funded phone triage service, GP Assist Tasmania, for 13 years, supporting rural GPs after hours.

Born in the UK, Dr Ballingall trained and worked in the hospital and primary healthcare sectors in Scotland. Upon relocating to Australia, she spent two years working in psychiatry in Queensland before settling in Tasmania.

Dr Ballingall's first contact with the RACGP came 11 years ago when she was sitting her Fellowship exam, for which she was awarded the RACGP Tasmania medal for the highest aggregate score across the exam's three segments. She has since been an active examiner with the faculty, and she joined RACGP Tasmania as the Tasmania Regional Representative for Denison in 2015. Dr Ballingall has met regularly with local parliamentary members and is passionate about increasing awareness of current general practice issues.

#### Dr Daniel Byrne (resigned 30 September 2017)

MBBS, FRACGP

Chair, RACGP SA&NT; Chair, RACGP Specific Interests

Dr Daniel Byrne is a partner at Chandlers Hill Surgery in outer metropolitan Adelaide and was elected to the RACGP Council in October 2014 as Chair of RACGP SA&NT, and became Chair of RACGP Specific Interests in 2015.

Dr Byrne has been a strong supporter of the RACGP since his training days in the early 1990s, which lead to his FRACGP in 1993. He has supported the RACGP by participating in exam preparation workshops for general practice registrars and IMGs, conducting Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency (AHPRA) interviews for IMGs wishing to enter Australian general practice, and assisting as a quality assurance examiner at the FRACGP OSCEs. He has been a medical educator and general practice clinical advisor, and been involved in general practice—hospital liaison and eHealth for 20 years.

Dr Byrne believes having the highest regard for quality and standards will guide the RACGP through all in which it is involved, whether it is practice accreditation, practice guidelines, eHealth or general practice training. He believes the RACGP must set the standards and rigorously defend the profession's right to implement them.

#### Dr Edwin Kruys (resigned 30 September 2017) MD, FRACGP, GAICD, AdDipProjMgt

Chair, RACGP Queensland

Dr Edwin Kruys is a full-time practising GP in Queensland's Sunshine Coast hinterlands, and is RACGP Vice-President and Chair of RACGP Queensland. After graduating from the University of Amsterdam and finishing his general practice training in the Netherlands in 2004, Dr Kruys worked in various rural locations in Australia, including Cooktown and the remote Wujal Wujal and Hopevale Aboriginal communities in Cape York in Queensland, and Halls Creek in the Kimberley region of Western Australia. Dr Kruys is passionate about advocacy for general practice. He writes the popular general practice blog doctorsbag.net, focusing on healthcare politics, eHealth and social media. Dr Kruys is also a member of the Australian Medical Association Queensland Council of General Practice.

#### Dr Guan Yeo (resigned 30 September 2017) FRACGP, MBBS, GAICD

Chair (2012-17), RACGP NSW&ACT

Dr Guan Yeo is experienced in matters of corporate and clinical governance, advocacy, and education and assessment. He is a practising GP in outer-metropolitan Sydney and a clinical training consultant in clinical communication, standards, clinical performance assessment, high-quality use of medicines, and professional regulation.

Dr Yeo is currently the RACGP National Assessment Advisor for the OSCE. In a previous role as Chair of the RACGP NSW&ACT Assessment Panel, Dr Yeo introduced initiatives to help IMGs prepare for the FRACGP exam. He is a board director of Primary and Community Care Services Ltd and General Practice Network Northside (also a previous chair). He is a hearings member of the Medical Council of New South Wales (previously the Medical Board) and a panel member of the Professional Services Review. He is also a member of the NSW Antimicrobial Stewardship Expert Advisory Group, and previously chaired the Prescribing Intervention Expert Advisory Group of NPS MedicinesWise Ltd. He was awarded the RACGP NSW&ACT faculty service medal.

#### **Company Secretary**

#### Dr Zena Burgess

PhD, MBA, MEd, DipEdPsych, BA, FAPS, FAICD

**Company Secretary** 

Dr Burgess is CEO and Company Secretary of the RACGP. She is also a director of RACGP Oxygen Pty Ltd, and a director on the boards of Australian Medicines Handbook Pty Ltd, Mental Health Professionals Network, and Box Hill Institute and CAE.

# RACGP member payments and remuneration

RACGP Council has decided to make changes to its remuneration report to increase the levels of disclosure and transparency in reporting of payments/remuneration of councillors, management and members. These changes exceed the regulatory requirements set forth by the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission (ACNC). RACGP Council is mindful that the remuneration delivers value for members' funds, and accordingly there are numerous measures to ensure that members' funds achieve the goal of excellent performance and governance of their college. These measures include extensive benchmarking of all key payments to councillors and

management, review from the RACGP's Nomination and Remuneration Committee and performance review of management. The 60th RACGP Council has reviewed all of these measures and recommends this remuneration report to the AGM of members.

#### Remuneration report

In 2018 the Board formed a Nomination and Remuneration Committee that came into effect in August. That committee has overseen the preparation of this remuneration report to be approved by Council.

The principles of the RACGP remuneration framework are designed to:

- align the rewards to the college's outcomes that deliver value to its members
- drive a service culture by setting challenging objectives and strategies
- strive for best practice in the conduct of the college's human resources policies
- utilise the skills of the college's professional membership in a variety of functions in order to deliver the highest possible standards and to maintain the RACGP as the pre-eminent general medical practice organisation in Australia.

#### Use of remuneration consultants

The RACGP has employed the services of external independent consultants (Mercer) to review and benchmark the amounts and elements of key management personnel remuneration, including the councillors and senior management.

#### **Councillor remuneration**

The RACGP constitution allows councillors to be remunerated for professional and technical services. The RACGP has been making payments to its councillors for many years. From October 2017, these payments were suspended following perceived ambiguity of the constitution. Council has determined it important to remove any ambiguity on this matter. A members' resolution to this effect will be sought from the members at the AGM. The success of that resolution is a prerequisite for many of the payments in this report.

As noted above, councillor and office bearer external benchmark data was provided by Mercer in 2018. In addition, the President's allowance is approved by member vote at the AGM, based on Council's recommendation. The results of the benchmarking have demonstrated that RACGP directors will be remunerated within acceptable percentiles for an organisation of the size, nature and complexity of RACGP.

Remuneration by role	Total remuneration paid and payable for year (\$)
RACGP President	126,965
Chair of Council	101,000
Councillors* (n = 18)	539,888
Total	767,853

<sup>\*</sup>Councillors include Oxygen directors.

# Key management personnel remuneration (excluding councillors)

In the past, the Council delegated the responsibility for the CEO remuneration to a performance working group consisting of the President, Chair of Council and the Chair of FARM. That group had considered the performance, remuneration and retention of the CEO and made recommendations to Council. This group has now been replaced by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Benchmarking of the CEO salary has occurred formally through external benchmarking by Mercer in 2018. There is additional contextual data that has also been informally gathered with other medical colleges and membership organisations of a similar size and status. The data shows that the CEO remuneration is within an acceptable percentile (50th–75th). As is the case in several other medical colleges, the RACGP CEO also serves as the company secretary, which is considered by Council in assessing the total remuneration.

Remuneration by role	Total remuneration <sup>*</sup> paid for year (\$)
CEO	547,796
Other key management personnel (n = 12)	2,320,659
Total	2,868,455

 $<sup>{}^\</sup>star \text{Total remuneration for staff includes salary and superannuation only.}$ 

#### **RACGP** member remuneration

Members play an important role within the RACGP. Whether that be through active participation as councillors or expert committee members, the RACGP prides itself in the deep connection it has to expertise through its member community. This table summarises the remuneration for each category of member remuneration.

Category of member remuneration	Total remuneration* paid for year \$
Member professional services payments (n = 1864) Note 1	3,607,759
Members employed as staff (n = 90) Note 2	2,276,894
RACGP Expert Committee chair and member payments (n = 71) Note 3	184,910

<sup>\*</sup>Total remuneration for staff includes salary and superannuation only.

#### Notes:

- Member professional services payments, RACGP Expert Committee chair payments and RACGP Expert Committee member payments are paid as contractor payments.
- 2. Members employed as staff are paid as salaries and wages and appropriate PAYG tax is remitted to the Australian Taxation Office.
- RACGP Expert Committee chairs and members are remunerated as follows.

RACGP Expert Committee (REC) chairs	REC chairs are paid for providing professional or technical services of an average of \$880 per day. Travel and accommodation expenses are reimbursed
REC members	REC members are paid for providing professional or technical services of an average of \$640 per day. Travel and accommodation expenses are reimbursed

- Member councillor payments are disclosed under councillor remuneration.
- 5. Other Council subcommittees and advisory groups and payments are remunerated as follows.

Faculty Board	Faculty Board members serve in a volunteer capacity and receive no remuneration or benefit for their services
Finance, Audit and Risk Management Committee (FARM)	FARM members who are not Council members receive a sitting fee of \$120 per hour
Nomination and Remuneration Committee	No additional fees are paid
Professional Standards Committee	No additional fees are paid

#### **Council meetings**

The number of meetings of Council (including meetings of committees of Council) held during the year and the numbers of meetings attended by each director were as follows.

	Council meetin	gs	Finance, Audit and Risk Management		
	Maximum* possible	Attended	Maximum* possible	Attended	
A Shenouda	11	10		-	
B Seidel	11	9	4	4	
B Willett	8	8	2	2	
C Ballingall	3	0		-	
C Hespe	8	7		-	
C Loy	11	9			
C Nixon	11	10			
D Byrne	3	3	1	1	
E Kruys	3	3			
G Yeo	3	1	1	0	
A Png	1	1			
J Presser	8	7			
M Miller	11	11			
M Walsh	11	11	4	4	
M Wyatt	11	11	3	3	
P O'Mara	11	10			
T Koh	11	11			
Z Baig	8	7			

Not a member of this committee of Council during the year.

#### **Auditor independence**

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration is set out on the following page.

#### **Corporate information**

The RACGP registered office and principal place of business is:

100 Wellington Parade East Melbourne VIC 3002

#### **Corporate structure**

The company is incorporated in New South Wales and domiciled in Australia as a company limited by guarantee with the liability of its members limited to \$20 per member.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Dr Tim Koh, Chair of Council

1-K

24 August 2018 Melbourne

<sup>\*</sup>Not all directors were appointed to Council or the relevant committee for the entire year. This column shows the number of meetings of Council and relevant committees that were held during each director's tenure on Council and those committees.

# Auditor's independence declaration



#### RSM Australia Partners

Level 21, 55 Collins Street Melbourne VIC 3000 PO Box 248 Collins Street West VIC 8007

> T+61(0) 3 9286 8000 F+61(0) 3 9286 8199

> > www.rsm.com.au

#### **AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION**

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2018, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

- (i) the auditor independence requirements of the Australian professional accounting bodies; and
- (ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

**RSM AUSTRALIA PARTNERS** 

P A RANSOM

Partner

Dated: 24 August 2018 Melbourne, Victoria

THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD

AUDIT | TAX | CONSULTING

RSM Australia Partners is a member of the RSM network and trades as RSM. RSM is the trading name used by the members of the RSM network. Each member of the RSM network is an independent accounting and consulting firm which practices in its own right. The RSM network is not itself a separate legal entity in any jurisdiction. RSM Australia Partners ABN 36 965 185 036

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation



# Independent auditor's report



#### RSM Australia Partners

Level 21, 55 Collins Street Melbourne VIC 3000 PO Box 248 Collins Street West VIC 8007

> T+61(0) 3 9286 8000 F+61(0) 3 9286 8199

> > www.rsm.com.au

### INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT To the Members of The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Ltd

#### Opinion

We have audited the financial report of The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Ltd ("RACGP"), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors' declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year's end.

In our opinion, the financial report of the RACGP has been prepared in accordance with Division 60 of the *Australian Charities* and *Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012*. including:

- (a) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date; and
- (b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards– Reduced Disclosure Requirements and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013.

#### **Basis for Opinion**

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report* section of our report. We are independent of the RACGP in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 *Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants* (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

#### Other Information

Those charged with governance are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the RACGP's annual report for the year ended 30 June 2018 but does not include the financial report and the auditor's report thereon

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

#### THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD

AUDIT | TAX | CONSULTING

RSM Australia Partners is a member of the RSM network and trades as RSM. RSM is the trading name used by the members of the RSM network. Each member of the RSM network is an independent accounting and consulting firm which practices in its own right. The RSM network is not itself a separate legal entity in any jurisdiction. RSM Australia Partners ABN 36 965 185 036

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation





#### Other Information (Continued.)

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

#### Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards- Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the *Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012* (ACNC Act) and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the RACGP's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the RACGP or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

#### Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: <a href="http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors">http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors</a> responsibilities/ar4.pdf. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

#### **RACGP Payments and Remuneration**

We have audited the RACGP Member Payments and Remuneration included in the Directors' Report for the year ended 30 June 2018.

In our opinion, the RACGP Member Payments and Remuneration details included in the Directors' Report for the year ended 30 June 2018 give a true and fair view of the RACGP payments and remuneration which are disclosed.

RSM AUSTRALIA PARTNERS

P A RANSOM

Partner

Dated: 24 August 2018 Melbourne, Victoria

### Directors' declaration

# Per section 60.15 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013

The directors declare that in the directors' opinion:

- a) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the registered entity is able to pay all of its debts, as and when they become due and payable, and
- b) the financial statements and notes satisfy the requirements of the *Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012.*

Signed in accordance with subsection 60.15(2) of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profit Commission Regulation 2013.

On behalf of the directors

1-K

**Dr Tim Koh** Chair of Council

24 August 2018 Melbourne

# Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

### The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Ltd

For the year ended 30 June 2018	Notes	2018 (\$)	2017 (\$)
Revenue	2	75,258,955	62,782,188
Total revenue		75,258,955	62,782,188
Expenses			
Employee benefits and on-costs		34,560,539	31,770,781
GP sessional and sitting payments		3,792,670	3,876,231
Cost of publications		619,672	719,040
Consultancy		2,319,221	1,310,950
Professional services		2,028,967	1,287,322
Travel and accommodation		2,103,578	2,011,805
Conference and meeting costs		5,575,511	3,505,047
Office accommodation		1,831,719	1,997,846
IT-related costs		5,334,699	4,243,872
Telecommunications		771,763	606,248
Advertising and media		5,878,956	4,951,292
Printing and stationery		364,374	286,311
Grants and donations		296,644	418,961
Finance costs		587,517	742,836
Depreciation		1,627,804	1,782,887
External grant project administration		5,851,210	1,398,814
Other expenses	_	1,526,544	1,708,789
Total expenses	3	75,071,388	62,619,032
Surplus from operating activities		187,567	163,156
Net investment income	6	133,478	_
Share of net surplus of associates accounted for using the equity method	7	118,240	129,514
Net gain on disposal of land and buildings		_	207,500
Total surplus before tax		439,285	500,170
Income tax expense	1.13	25,855	5,114
Total surplus after tax	13	413,430	495,056
Other comprehensive income			
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss			
Revaluation increment to land and buildings	13	5,850,000	5,301,250
Income tax relating to these items	-	_	_
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax	-	6,263,430	5,796,306
Total comprehensive income for the year		6,263,430	5,796,306

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

# Consolidated statement of financial position

### The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Ltd

As at 30 June 2018	Notes	2018 (\$)	2017 (\$)
Current assets			
Cash and cash equivalents	4	33,420,327	32,370,250
Trade and other receivables	5	2,706,748	2,182,560
Financial assets	9	8,438,167	_
Other financial assets	6	5,731,688	_
Total current assets		50,296,930	34,552,810
Non-current assets			
Investments accounted for using the equity method	7	596,818	578 <b>,</b> 578
Property and office equipment	8	46,305,589	41,088,038
Financial assets	9	700,000	700,000
Trade and other receivables	5	85,973	93,803
Total non-current assets		47,688,380	42,460,419
Total assets		97,985,310	77,013,229
Current liabilities			
Trade and other payables	10	9,304,934	6,943,099
Current tax liabilities		21,868	3,428
Income in advance	11	52,648,695	40,503,747
Provisions	12	1,327,915	1,281,622
Total current liabilities		63,303,412	48,731,896
Non-current liabilities			
Provisions	12	664,500	527,365
Total non-current liabilities	_	664,500	527,365
Total liabilities		63,967,912	49,259,261
Net assets		34,017,398	27,753,968
Equity			
Reserves	13	19,047,658	13,197,658
Accumulated surplus	13	14,969,740	14,556,310
Total equity		34,017,398	27,753,968

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

# Consolidated statement of changes in equity

### The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Ltd

For the year ended 30 June 2018	Notes	Accumulated surplus (\$)	Asset revaluation reserve (\$)	Total (\$)
Balance at 1 July 2016		11,894,047	10,063,615	21,957,662
Total surplus for the year		495,056	_	495,056
Total other comprehensive income for the year		_	5,301,250	5,301,250
Transfer to accumulated surplus		2,167,207	(2,167,207)	_
Balance at 30 June 2017	13	14,556,310	13,197,658	27,753,968
Total surplus for the year		413,430	_	413,430
Total other comprehensive income for the year			5,850,000	5,850,000
Balance at 30 June 2018	13	14,969,740	19,047,658	34,017,398

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

## Consolidated statement of cash flows

#### The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Ltd

For the year ended 30 June 2018	Notes	2018 (\$)	2017 (\$)
Cash flows from operating activities			
Receipts from membership activities, publications, government and other grants (inclusive of GST)		93,998,239	75,127,725
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST)		(78,251,966)	(64,785,569)
Income tax paid		(7,415)	529
Net cash inflow from operating activities		15,738,858	10,342,685
Cash flows from investing activities			
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment		-	3,600,000
Purchase of property and office equipment		(1,107,141)	(1,909,362)
Interest received		354,736	324,774
Dividends received		100,000	75,000
Purchase of other financial assets		(14,036,376)	-
Net cash outflow from investing activities		(14,688,781)	2,090,412
Cash flows from financing activities			
Repayment of borrowings		_	_
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities		-	_
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held		1,050,077	12,433,097
Cash at beginning of financial year		32,370,250	19,937,153
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year	4	33,420,327	32,370,250

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

### Notes to the financial statements

#### The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Ltd

For the year ended 30 June 2018

# Note 1. Statement of significant accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements ('financial statements') and notes represent those of The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Ltd and controlled entities ('the group').

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 24 August 2018. The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.

#### Statement of compliance

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the ACNC Act. The group is a not-for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements. The financial statements of the group comply with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in financial statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated.

#### **Basis of preparation**

The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical cost, except for the revaluation of certain non-current assets. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

Items included in the financial statements of each of the group's entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates ('the functional currency'). The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the group's functional and presentation currency.

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial statements.

#### 1.1 Basis of consolidation

The financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities and results of the subsidiary of The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Ltd as at 30 June 2018 and the results of its subsidiary for the year then ended.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the group has control. The group controls an entity when the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Income and expenses of the subsidiary are included in the 'Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income' from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of the subsidiary to bring their accounting policies into line with those used by other members of the group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the group's ownership interests in its subsidiary that do not result in the group losing control are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the group's interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary.

When the group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consolidation received and the fair value of any retained interest, and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary. When assets of the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or fair values, and the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the group had directly disposed of

the relevant assets (ie reclassified to the 'Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income', or transferred directly to accumulated surplus as specified by applicable standards).

#### 1.2 Investments in associates

Associates are entities over which the group has significant influence but not control or joint control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for in the group's financial statement using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost.

The group's share of its associates' post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the 'Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income'. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. Dividends receivable from associates reduce the carrying amount of the investment (refer to Note 7).

When the group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the group does not recognise further losses unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the group's interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the group.

#### 1.3 Property and office equipment

Land and buildings are shown at fair value determined by the group and based on annual reviews effective 30 June of each year, which apply standard property valuation techniques including reference to an independent valuer. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. All other property and office equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow

to the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the 'Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income' during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Any revaluation increases on the revaluation of land and buildings are credited to the asset revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for land and buildings previously recognised as an expense in the 'Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income', in which case the increase is credited to the 'Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income' to the extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings is charged as an expense in the 'Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income' to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the asset revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of land and buildings.

#### 1.4 Impairment of assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that a carrying amount may not be recoverable. At a minimum, assets are reviewed for impairment annually. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).

#### 1.5 Depreciation

Depreciation (except for land, which is not a depreciable item) is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net cost or revalued amount of each item of property, plant and equipment over its expected useful life or, in the case of leasehold improvements, the shorter lease term. Depreciation rates used are as follows.

Buildings	2.5%
Leasehold improvements	5.0%
Office equipment and training equipment	15.0%
Office furniture	7.5%
Computer equipment	33.3%

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 1.3). Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the 'Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income'.

#### 1.6 Leases

Operating lease payments net of incentives received from the lessor are expensed in the 'Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income' on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Lease income from operating leases where the group is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The respective leased assets are included in the 'Consolidated statement of financial position' based on their nature.

#### 1.7 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value less a provision for uncollectible debts. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement on average within 30 days. They are presented as current assets unless collection is not expected for more than 12 months after the reporting date. Debts that are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision for doubtful receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the group may not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the 'Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income' within other expenses.

#### 1.8 Trade payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 60 days of recognition.

#### 1.9 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

All borrowing costs are expenses within the 'Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income'.

#### 1.10 Employee benefits

The group has recognised and brought to account employee benefits as follows.

#### a) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting date, are recognised in trade and other payables in respect of employees' services up to the reporting date, and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities for annual leave and other short-term employee obligations are recognised in trade and other payables.

#### b) Other long-term employee benefit obligations

The liabilities for long service leave and annual leave that are not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which employees render the related service is recognised in the provision for employee benefits, and measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period using the projected unit credit method.

Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on notional corporate bonds, with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the statement of financial position if the group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting date, regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur.

#### 1.11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, and other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject

to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the 'Consolidated statement of financial position'.

#### 1.12 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. The group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the group, and specific criteria have been met for each of the group's activities, as described below. Revenue is recognised on the following bases.

#### a) Membership subscriptions

Subscriptions are recorded as revenue in the year to which the subscription relates. Subscriptions received in advance are shown in the 'Consolidated statement of financial position as current liabilities'.

#### b) Quality improvement and other fees

Fees are recorded as revenue in the year to which the fees relate. Fees received in advance are shown in the 'Consolidated statement of financial position as current liabilities'.

#### c) Revenue from courses, examinations

All revenue and expenditure relating to specific courses/examinations is recognised upon completion of the course/examination.

#### d) Specific-purpose grants

Grants received on the condition that specified services are delivered, or conditions are fulfilled, are considered reciprocal. Grant monies received for specific purposes are recorded as revenue in the period in which the amounts are expended – that is, the services have been performed or conditions have been fulfilled. Grant monies received but not yet expended – that is, when services have not yet been performed, or conditions have not been fulfilled – are shown in the 'Consolidated statement of financial position' as current liabilities.

#### e) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time–proportion basis using the effective interest method.

#### f) Dividends

Dividends are recognised as revenue when the right to receive payment is established.

#### 1.13 Income tax

The parent company is endorsed as an income tax exempt charitable entity under subdivision 50-B of the *Income Tax Assessment Act 1997*.

The subsidiary of The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Ltd, RACGP Oxygen Pty Ltd, is not income tax exempt. Therefore, income tax for the period is the tax payable on the current period's taxable income based upon the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period in Australia. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to use those temporary differences and losses. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where RACGP Oxygen Pty Ltd is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where RACGP Oxygen Pty Ltd has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the 'Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income', except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

#### 1.14 Goods and services tax

Revenues and expenses from ordinary activities, and assets, are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or part of the item of the expenses from ordinary activities. Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. Items in the 'Consolidated statement of cash flows' are inclusive of GST where applicable.

# 1.15 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates that, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the group's accounting policies. The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based on historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the group. These include:

## a) Estimation of fair values of land and buildings – refer to Note 8

#### b) Provision for employee benefits

Management uses judgement to determine when employees are likely to take annual leave and long service leave. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled. Employee benefits payable later than one year are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits. Accordingly, assessments are made on employee wage increases and the probability the employee may not satisfy the vesting requirements. Likewise, these cash flows are discounted using market yields on corporate bonds with terms to maturity that match the expected timing of the cash outflow.

#### 1.16 Early adoption of standards

The group has not elected to apply any pronouncements before their operative date in the annual reporting period beginning 1 July 2017.

# 1.17 New and amended standards adopted by the group

There are no new and amended standards adopted by the group during this financial year that will have material impact to the financial report.

#### 1.18 Parent entity financial information

The financial information for the parent entity, The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Ltd, disclosed in Note 20, has been prepared on the same basis as the financial statements, with the exception of the policy set out below.

# a) Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities are accounted for at cost in the financial statements of The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Ltd.

#### b) Income tax

The parent company is endorsed as an income tax exempt charitable entity under subdivision 50-B of the *Income Tax Assessment Act 1997*.

#### 1.19 Capital management

The objective of the group is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide benefits to its members.

#### 1.20 Fair value measurement

When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, and assumes that the transaction will take place either in the principal market or, in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market.

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming they act in their economic best interest. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its highest and best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

#### 1.21 Investments and other financial assets

Investments and other financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs are included as part of the initial measurement, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. They are subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair value depending on their classification. Classification is determined based on the purpose of the acquisition, and subsequent reclassification to other categories is restricted. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred, and the consolidated entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

#### Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Other financial assets are designated fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition, where they are managed on a fair value basis or to eliminate or significantly reduce an accounting mismatch. Fair value movements are recognised in profit or loss.

#### Impairment of financial assets

The consolidated entity assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. Objective evidence includes significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor; a breach of contract such as default or delinquency in payments; the lender granting to a borrower concessions due to economic or legal reasons that the lender would not otherwise grant; it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; the disappearance of an active market for the financial asset; or observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in estimated future cash flows.

The amount of the impairment allowance for financial assets carried at cost is the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the current market rate of return for similar financial assets.

Note 2. Revenue from ordinary activities	2018 (\$)	2017 (\$)
Revenue from operating activities		
Membership, QI&CPD fees	32,415,629	30,609,128
Education, course registration and other fees	26,600,868	22,876,044
Research and other grants and donations	10,247,385	3,909,413
Publications and subscriptions	195,570	274,504
Sponsorship and advertising	2,206,055	1,990,091
Other operating income	2,309,302	1,786,992
Other revenue from ordinary activities		
Interest	354,736	324,774
Rent	929,410	1,011,242
	75,258,955	62,782,188
Note 3. Expenses	2018 (\$)	2017 (\$)
Surplus from operating activities includes the following specific expenses:		
Depreciation		
Buildings	525,000	508,750
Computer equipment and software	1,090,444	1,261,574
Other plant and equipment	12,360	12,563
	1,627,804	1,782,887
Rental expense relating to operating leases	588,428	515,291
Note 4. Cash and cash equivalents	2018 (\$)	2017 (\$)
Cash at bank	4,566,814	14,464,378
	4,566,814	14,464,378
Deposits on call	17,959,265	10,399,396
Proceeds from sale of 201 Logan Road, Woolloongabba, Qld	_	3,600,000
Deposits on call – grant funds held for disbursement	10,894,248	3,906,476
	28,853,513	17,905,872
	33,420,327	32,370,250
Note 5. Trade and other receivables	2018 (\$)	2017 (\$)
Current assets		
Trade receivables	1,819,475	798,686
Prepayments	882,365	1,092,212
Other receivables – lease incentive	4,908	291,662
	2,706,748	2,182,560
Non-current assets		
Non Current assets		

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of the amounts is expected in one year or less they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days and therefore are all classified as current. The carrying amounts of amounts receivable approximate net fair values, as determined by reference to the expected future net cash flows and due to their short-term nature

 $Other\ receivables\ generally\ arise\ from\ transactions\ outside\ the\ usual\ operating\ activities\ of\ the\ group.$ 

Note 6. Other financial assets	2018 (\$)	2017 (\$)
Cash management accounts	1,093,775	-
Fixed-interest securities	1,476,050	_
Equity investment	3,161,863	_
	5,731,688	-
Net investment income		
Net investment income is presented net of investment management fees in the consolid comprehensive income.	ated statement of profit or loss a	nd other
Interest	15,172	_
Trust distributions	52,815	_
Dividend income	60,424	_
Investment management fees	(17,898)	-
Foreign tax expense	(1,403)	-
Net realised gain/(loss) on investment	8,214	-
Net unrealised gain/(loss) on investment	16,154	_
	133,478	_
Note 7. Investments accounted for using the equity method	2018 (\$)	2017 (\$)
Share in associates	596,818	578,578
Share in associates Share in associates	596,818	578,578
Share in associates	Trust (the Unit Trust). The Unit bk. The Unit Trust has a 30 June	t Trust's
Share in associates  i. The group holds 33.33% of the units in the Australian Medicines Handbook Unit principal activity is the production and sale of the Australian medicines handbook	Trust (the Unit Trust). The Unit bk. The Unit Trust has a 30 June	t Trust's
Share in associates  i. The group holds 33.33% of the units in the Australian Medicines Handbook Unit principal activity is the production and sale of the <i>Australian medicines handboo</i> period. The group's share of the results of its associate's assets and liabilities are	Trust (the Unit Trust). The Unit bk. The Unit Trust has a 30 June	t Trust's e reporting
Share in associates  i. The group holds 33.33% of the units in the Australian Medicines Handbook Unit principal activity is the production and sale of the Australian medicines handboo period. The group's share of the results of its associate's assets and liabilities are Group's share of:	Trust (the Unit Trust). The Unit ok. The Unit Trust has a 30 June as follows:	t Trust's e reporting 970,277
Share in associates  i. The group holds 33.33% of the units in the Australian Medicines Handbook Unit principal activity is the production and sale of the Australian medicines handboo period. The group's share of the results of its associate's assets and liabilities are Group's share of:  Assets	Trust (the Unit Trust). The Unit k. The Unit Trust has a 30 June as follows:	970,277 391,699
Share in associates  i. The group holds 33.33% of the units in the Australian Medicines Handbook Unit principal activity is the production and sale of the Australian medicines handboo period. The group's share of the results of its associate's assets and liabilities are Group's share of:  Assets  Liabilities	Trust (the Unit Trust). The Unit ok. The Unit Trust has a 30 June e as follows:  999,251 402,433	970,277 391,699
Share in associates  i. The group holds 33.33% of the units in the Australian Medicines Handbook Unit principal activity is the production and sale of the Australian medicines handboo period. The group's share of the results of its associate's assets and liabilities are Group's share of:  Assets  Liabilities  Revenue	Trust (the Unit Trust). The Unit lk. The Unit Trust has a 30 June e as follows:  999,251 402,433 1,633,796	970,277 391,699
Share in associates  i. The group holds 33.33% of the units in the Australian Medicines Handbook Unit principal activity is the production and sale of the Australian medicines handboo period. The group's share of the results of its associate's assets and liabilities are Group's share of:  Assets  Liabilities  Revenue  Profit/(loss) after tax  ii. The movement in equity-accounted associates investments is as follows:	Trust (the Unit Trust). The Unit lk. The Unit Trust has a 30 June e as follows:  999,251 402,433 1,633,796	970,277 391,699 1,511,301
Share in associates  i. The group holds 33.33% of the units in the Australian Medicines Handbook Unit principal activity is the production and sale of the Australian medicines handboo period. The group's share of the results of its associate's assets and liabilities are Group's share of:  Assets  Liabilities  Revenue  Profit/(loss) after tax	Trust (the Unit Trust). The Unit lk. The Unit Trust has a 30 June e as follows:  999,251 402,433 1,633,796 118,240	970,277 391,699 1,511,301 129,514
i. The group holds 33.33% of the units in the Australian Medicines Handbook Unit principal activity is the production and sale of the Australian medicines handboo period. The group's share of the results of its associate's assets and liabilities are Group's share of:  Assets  Liabilities  Revenue  Profit/(loss) after tax  ii. The movement in equity-accounted associates investments is as follows:  Balance at the beginning of the financial year	Trust (the Unit Trust). The Unit ok. The Unit Trust has a 30 June e as follows:  999,251 402,433 1,633,796 118,240	t Trust's

Note 8. Non-current assets – property and office equipment	2018 (\$)	2017 (\$)
Freehold land and buildings		
Land and building – valuation	43,975,000	38,650,000
Less Accumulated amortisation	-	-
	43,975,000	38,650,000
Computer equipment and software at cost	6,199,137	5,203,783
Less Accumulated depreciation	(3,927,701)	(2,837,258)
	2,271,436	2,366,525
Other plant and equipment at cost	121,986	121,986
Less Accumulated depreciation	(62,833)	(50,473)
	59,153	71,513
Total written-down value	46,305,589	41,088,038
Reconciliations		
Freehold land and buildings		
Opening balance	38,650,000	37,250,000
Additions	_	_
Revaluation increment/(decrement)*	5,850,000	5,301,250
Disposals	_	(3,392,500)
Depreciation expense	(525,000)	(508,750)
Closing balance	43,975,000	38,650,000
Computer equipment and software		
Opening balance	2,366,525	1,704,328
Additions	1,107,141	1,909,362
Reclassification	_	14,408
Disposals	(111,787)	_
Depreciation expense	(1,090,443)	(1,261,573)
Closing balance	2,271,436	2,366,525
Other plant and equipment		
Opening balance	71,513	98,484
Additions	_	-
Reclassification	-	(14,408)
Depreciation expense	(12,360)	(12,563)
Closing balance	59,153	71,513
Total closing balance	46,305,589	41,088,038

The valuation basis of land and buildings is fair value, being the amounts for which the assets could be exchanged between market participants in an orderly manner, based on current prices in an active market for similar properties in the same locations and conditions.

<sup>\*</sup>Freehold land and buildings were revalued to the amounts shown above as at 30 June 2018. The valuations recorded a net increase in the value of group properties. Under Australian Accounting Standards, \$5,850,000 has been recorded against the asset revaluation reserve in relation to this increase in property values.

Independent valuations of the group's land and buildings were performed by the independent valuers Savills Pty Ltd in their respective states to determine the market value of the properties for 30 June 2018.

The Commonwealth Bank of Australia holds a first registered mortgage over the land and buildings at 100 Wellington Parade, East Melbourne. This mortgage secures a credit facility of \$2,000,000 that was not used during the financial year ended 30 June 2018.

Note 9. Financial assets	2018 (\$)	2017 (\$)
Current assets		
Term deposits	8,438,167	-
Non-current assets		
Term deposit*	700,000	700,000

\*During the financial year 2015–16, the RACGP received a bequest of \$700,000 from the Lynn Harvey Joseph estate. The Trust deed stipulates that the RACGP is to hold the \$700,000 for 50 years while applying the income earned from the fund to research, education and training in general practice medicine. Upon expiry of 50 years, the funds will become available to be applied as the RACGP determines appropriate.

Note 10. Trade and other payables	2018 (\$)	2017 (\$)
Trade creditors	964,676	1,366,021
Other creditors and accruals	6,202,488	3,685,148
Employee benefits	2,137,770	1,891,930
Total	9,304,934	6,943,099

Net fair values: Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. The carrying amounts of amounts payable approximate net fair values, as determined by reference to the expected future net cash flows and due to their short-term nature.

Note 11. Income in advance	2018 (\$)	2017 (\$)
Income in advance		
Membership subscriptions and QI&CPD fees	29,172,656	27,119,983
Grants	10,330,978	3,923,277
Exams	8,467,031	7,398,840
Other	4,678,030	2,061,647
Total	52,648,695	40,503,747
Note 12. Provisions	2018 (\$)	2017 (\$)
Employee benefits – long service leave (current)	1,327,915	1,281,622
Employee benefits – long service leave (non-current)	664,500	527,365
Note 13. Reserves and accumulated surplus	2018 (\$)	2017 (\$)
Asset revaluation reserve		
i. Nature and purpose of reserve		
The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements in th	e value of those non-current assets me	asured at fair value
ii. Movements in reserve		
Balance at beginning of year	13,197,658	10,063,615
Revaluation of land and buildings	5,850,000	5,301,250
Transfer to accumulated surplus*	-	(2,167,207)
Balance at end of year	19,047,658	13,197,658
Movements in accumulated surplus		
Balance at beginning of year	14,556,310	11,894,047
Current year surplus	413,430	495,056
Transfer from asset revaluation reserve*	-	2,167,207
Balance at end of year	14,969,740	14,556,310

<sup>\*</sup>During the financial year 2016–17, 201 Logan Road, Woolloongabba, Queensland was sold. Within the asset revaluation reserve was \$2,167,207 relating to this property. In accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, this a mount was transferred to accumulated surplus.

#### Note 14. Key management personnel compensation

2018 (\$)

2017 (\$)

Key management personnel include those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the group, directly or indirectly, including any councillor (whether executive or otherwise).

Total compensation paid to key management personnel during the financial year was:

Key management personnel

3,689,750\*

3,237,454

<sup>\*</sup>Councillors' remuneration includes both paid and payable amounts. The above compensation includes salary, superannuation and long service leave to which they are entitled during the year.

Note 15. Commitments	2018 (\$)	2017 (\$)
Operating leases		

 $The group \ leases \ various \ pieces \ of \ office \ equipment \ and \ offices \ under \ cancellable \ operating \ leases \ expiring \ within \ one \ year.$ 

The leases have varying terms and renewal rights. On renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiable.

Minimum lease payments		
Within one year	330,139	354,895
Later than one year but not later than five years	682,813	811,740
More than five years	290,806	436,382
Total operating leases	1,303,758	1,603,017
Capital commitments		
Property and office equipment		
Within 12 months		
Computer equipment and software	1,144,315	_
Total property and office equipment	1,144,315	-
Note 16. Contingencies		

The RACGP has given bank guarantees as at 30 June 2018 of \$357,200 (2017: \$312,082).

#### Note 17. Related party transactions

#### a. Equity interests in related parties

#### i. Equity interests in associates

Details of interest in associates are disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements.

#### ii. Equity interests in subsidiaries

Details of interest in subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 21 to the financial statements.

#### b. Key management personnel compensation

Disclosures relating to key management personnel compensation are set out in Note 14.

#### c. Key management personnel loans

There are no loans to or from key management personnel.

#### d. Transactions with key management personnel

The key management personnel have transactions with the group that occur within a normal supplier—customer relationship on terms and conditions no more favourable than those with which it is reasonable to expect the group would have adopted if dealing with the key management personnel at arms length in similar circumstances. These transactions include the collection of membership dues and subscriptions and the provision of group services.

#### Note 18. Financial instruments

2018 (\$)

2017 (\$)

#### Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations concerning its financial liabilities. The group has the following financing arrangements. The group also has financial liabilities to its trade and other creditors and amounts invoiced in advance for services to be rendered such as the group's membership subscriptions. The group does not expect to settle the amounts invoiced in advance by cash payment; rather, these liabilities will be satisfied with the provision of the services. Liquidity risk is therefore insignificant as the group's cash reserves significantly exceed the remaining financial liabilities that it expects to settle by cash payment.

#### Financing arrangements

The group had arranged the following undrawn borrowing facilities at the end of the reporting period.

# Variable rate Facilities: 2,000,000 2,000,000 Total undrawn facilities 2,000,000 2,000,000

#### Note 19. Events after the reporting period

No circumstances have arisen since the end of the year that have significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the group in future financial years.

#### Note 20. Parent entity information 2018 (\$) 2017 (\$) The accounting policies of the parent entity, which have been applied in determining the financial information shown below, are the same as those applied in the financial statements. Refer to Note 1 for a summary of the significant accounting policies relating to the group. Financial position Assets Current assets 50,214,430 34,513,047 47,698,380 Non-current assets 42,470,419 **Total assets** 97,912,810 76,983,466 Liabilities Current liabilities 63,457,083 48,867,975 Non-current liabilities 664,503 527,369 Total liabilities 64,121,586 49,395,344 Net assets 33,791,224 27,588,122 **Equity** Reserves 19,047,656 13,197,656 Accumulated surplus 14,743,568 14,390,466 Total equity 33,791,224 27,588,122 Financial performance Total surplus/(deficit) 353,102 483,122 Other comprehensive income for the year 5,850,000 5,301,250 5,784,372 Total comprehensive income for the year 6,203,102 Contingent liabilities of the parent entity The RACGP has given bank guarantees as at 30 June 2018 of \$357,200 (2017: \$312,082). Commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment by the parent entity Property and office equipment Within 12 months Computer equipment and software 1,144,315 Total property and office equipment 1,144,315 Note 21. Subsidiaries The financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of RACGP Oxygen Pty Ltd in accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 1.1. **Equity holding** Country of incorporation Name of entity

Ordinary

100%

100%

RACGP Oxygen Pty Ltd

Australia



Healthy Profession. Healthy Australia.